1950

Leah C. Jones, Martha C. Whiting and Louise C. Beeton v. Mark B. Cook : Brief of Appellants

Utah Supreme Court

STATEMENT OF CASE

Plaintiffs and appellants prosecute this appeal from a judgment made and entered in favor of the defendant and against the plaintiffs on the 24th day of June, 1949. (J. R. 29) Notice of appeal was served and filed on September 16, 1949. (J.R. 36) Most of the evidence is documentary. The only substantial conflict in the evidence is whether or not Mark Cook, the deceased

father of the parties hereto, prior to his death made a gift of a Ford automobile to his son Mark B. Cook.

The action was brought by the plaintiffs against the defendant by filing a complaint on May 22, 1948. By the complaint the plaintiffs claimed to be the owners and entitled to the possession of one Ford Sedan automobile, Motor No. 6441914 of the value of \$1000.00, which was converted by the defendant to his own use and benefit to the damage of the plaintiffs in the sum of \$1000.00 for which amount plaintiffs prayed judgment against the defendant. (J. R. 1)

To the complaint the defendant answered. By his answer he denies the ownership of the automobile by the plaintiffs. He further alleges that his father died on July 30, 1943; that on July 1st, 1944 the last will and testament of his father was admitted to probate and he was appointed executor of the will; that he qualified as such executor and on August 18, 1948 a decree of distribution was entered and that he was finally discharged as executor on September 15, 1945; that an inventory and appraisement of the estate was filed in which the automobile was not listed; that the property of the estate was appraised but the automobile was not listed or appraised for the purpose of fixing inheritance taxes; that no objection was made by the widow or children of the deceased because the automobile was not listed; that an account was filed with the court in which the estate of Mark Cook, deceased, was being probated; that no objections were made thereto; that Irene B. Cook, the widow of the deceased gave a RECEIPT

to Mark B. Cook wherein she acknowledged the receipt of the property which was distributed to her; that the plaintiffs knew that Mark B. Cook claimed the automobile and that he had possession thereof; that neither the widow of the deceased nor the plaintiffs filed objection to the account or the proceedings had in the course of the probating of the estate of Mark Cook, that after the death of Irene B. Cook, and on or about June 21, 1947, the defendant herein filed a suit against the plaintiffs herein and then in that suit for the first time plaintiffs, as executrices of the estate of Irene B. Cook claimed to be the owners of said automobile. That notices of the various probate proceedings were given as by law required. That by reason of the facts alleged by the defendant herein the plaintiffs are estopped from claiming the automobile and that any claim that the plaintiffs may have had in or to the automobile is res adjudicata.

As a further defense the defendant alleges in his answer that plaintiffs alleged cause of action is barred under and by virtue of Title 104, Chapter 2, Subdivision 2 of Section 24, Utah Code Annotated, 1943. Nowhere in the answer does the defendant affirmatively allege ownership of the automobile in himself by reason of a gift by his father. So far as is disclosed by the answer defendant claims ownership of the automobile by reason of the probate proceedings notwithstanding the decree of distribution did not order the automobile distributed to the defendant herein. (J. R. 7 to 14)

To the answer of the defendant the plaintiffs filed a reply in which they admit the allegations of the defendant touching the probate proceedings. They also admit that Mark B. Cook, the defendant, during the time he was acting as executor had possession of the automobile as by law permitted; that Irene B. Cook held a life estate in said automobile until the date of her death which occurred on September 14, 1946.

Plaintiffs in their reply denied generally the other allegations of the answer of Mark B. Cook. (J.R. 15 to 17)

We have at some length directed the attention of the court to the pleadings because many of the pleaded facts, particularly those relating to the probate proceedings, are not and may not be contradicted.

The parole evidence is directed primarily to the question of whether or not Mark Cook, during his lifetime made a gift of the property to his son Mark B. Cook. It probably should be noted at the outset that the trial court refused to make a finding on that question. However, we deem it necessary to direct the attention of the court to that phase of the case as otherwise the court might conclude that in the absence of evidence showing or tending to show that the automobile belonged to Mark Cook at the time of his death the plaintiffs failed to make out a prima facie case.

Before referring to the oral testimony the attention of the court is directed to the terms of the will of Mark Cook, deceased. The will of Mark Cook and

his wife Irene B. Cook was read into the record and will be found in the transcript at pages 27 to 29 of the transcript. It will be noted that Irene B. Cook if she survived her husband, which she did, was given a life estate in all the real property belonging to her husband at the time of her death.

Mark B. Cook the son, was given, subject to the life estate of Irene B. Cook, the real property, the water stock, farm machinery and implements used in connection with the farm. The plaintiffs were given, share and share alike, subject to the life estate of the mother Irene B. Cook all of the rest, residue and remainder of the property of every name and nature. (Tr. 27 and 28)

By the decree of distribution there was distributed to Irene B. Cook a life estate in all of the property owned by her deceased husband, Mark Cook.

There was distributed to Mark B. Cook, defendant herein, subject to the life estate of Irene B. Cook, the real estate, water stock, farming machinery and equipment.

Leah C. Jones, Martha C. Whiting and Louise C. Beeton were decreed, share and share alike, subject to the life estate of Irene B. Cook all the rest, residue and remainder of the estate. What constitutes the rest, residue and remainder is not listed.

It is also provided in the decree of distribution that: "any and all other property not now known or

discovered which may belong to said estate or in which said estate may have any interest be and the same is hereby distributed in accordance with said last will and testament. (Tr. 31 to 34)

The evidence shows without conflict that the automobile at the time of the death of Mark Cook and at all times since his death stood in his name in the office of the State Tax Commission. (See Plaintiffs' Exhibit "A") The signature on the certificate of registration in 1941 is that of Mark Cook, deceased. (Tr. 6) The other signatures of 1942, 1943, 1944, 1945 and 1946 are the signatures of Mark B. Cook, the defendant herein. (Tr. 80) The evidence also shows that the defendant in all of the probate proceedings of his father signed his name as Mark B. Cook. He so signed his name generally. (Tr. 81)

In addition to the certificate of registration standing in the name of Mark Cook the evidence shows that defendant Mark B. Cook was familiar with the procedure in order to transfer title. (Tr. 81) No claim is made that the certificate of ownership was ever signed by Mark Cook, the father of the parties herein. The evidence is to the contrary. (See photostatic copy of certificate of ownership, defendant's Exhibit 1.)

In addition to the foregoing evidence plaintiff Leah C. Jones testified that her father died on July 30, 1943 and her mother on September 14, 1946. That during his lifetime her father had in his possession the 1941 model Ford sedan. (Tr. 5) That in December, 1943,

after the death of her father as her mother was about to go to Arizona Mark B. Cook told his mother that it would be necessary for him, Mark B. Cook, to have the certificate of ownership of the Ford automobile in order to cross the state line into Arizona and that later the mother, Irene B. Cook, told Mrs. Jones that she had given the certificate of ownership of the Ford to Mark. (Tr. 108-109)

Mrs. Jones further testified that she had not seen the decree of distribution until the day of the trial. (Tr. 110) That she went to the place where and at the time when the hearing was had for the purposes of appraising the property for inheritance tax purposes. That she was told that there was no reason for her to remain and she left. (Tr. 111) That she did see a copy of the decree approving and allowing the Final Account of the executor and petition for final distribution of the estate among her mother's papers after her death. (Tr. 111) That in February, 1945, she wrote a letter to find out in whose name the automobile stood.

Martha C. Whiting testified that she went to the office of Judge Christenson, who represented Mark B. Cook, as executor of the estate of Mark Cook, and that she inquired about the automobile and was told by Judge Christenson that Mark had a right to use the automobile while he was acting as executor. (Tr. 121) Mrs. Whiting further testified that after the death of her father Mark came to his mother for the keys to the car and the mother gave them to him. (Tr. 43)

The evidence also shows that Irene B. Cook had the automobile insured in the name of Irene B. Cook after the death of her husband that she paid the insurance premium. Prior to the death of Mark Cook in June, 1943 he insured the automobile in the name of Mark Cook. (Tr. 37)

Notwithstanding there is no allegation in the answer to the effect that defendant Mark B. Cook paid the taxes on the automobile he testified that he paid the taxes for the years 1944, 1945, 1946, 1947, 1948 and 1949. (Tr. 56)

Mrs. Cook, the wife of the defendant, testified that, at a time not fixed in her direct examination, she and her husband, Mark B. Cook and her father-in-law Mark Cook, took a ride up Provo Canyon and Mr. Cook, the elder, said: "Mark, here is the certificate of ownership and extra set of keys to the car. I'm giving it to you with the understanding that you take Mother and I at any time we want to go." (Tr. 94) It will be observed that there is no allegation in defendant's answer to the effect that the automobile was given to him by his father. The evidence further shows that Mark B. Cook took his mother to Arizona after the death of his father but refused to permit the car to be used to take Mrs. Cook to Logan. (Tr. 131)

From the foregoing brief statement of the evidence it will be seen that such evidence is ample, if not conclusive, to show that the automobile was a part of the estate of Mark Cook at the time of his death.

We are mindful that this court may not review the conflicting evidence and determine the question of whether or not the automobile belonged to the estate at the time of the death of Mark Cook. However if the evidence is conclusive that the automobile belonged to the estate or if it should adopt the view expressed in the dissenting opinion in the case of *Jackson vs. James*, 97 Utah 41, 89 Pac. (2d) 235, then and in such case the plaintiffs are entitled to a judgment for \$800.00, the stipulated value of the automobile. (Trs. 50-51)

In the Findings of Fact the trial court expressly refused to make a finding as to whether or not Mark Cook had made a gift to his son Mark B. Cook. (J. R. page 21) The court based its judgment upon (1) the fact that in the probate proceedings the plaintiffs made no objections; and (2) upon the fact that the defendant had possession of and paid the taxes upon the automobile. (J. R. 20 to 29)

ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

Come now the plaintiffs in the above entitled action and assign the following errors upon which they rely for a reversal of the judgment made and entered on June 24, 1949 in the above entitled cause.

1. The trial court erred in that part of its finding of Fact No. 1 wherein it found: "that defendant has been in possession of said automobile with the knowledge of the plaintiffs, under claim in good faith made by the defendant that said automobile has been given to

the defendant by the said Mark Cook as a gift.” That such finding is without support in the evidence and is contrary to the preponderance thereof. (J. R. 21)

2. The trial court erred in making that part of its finding No. 2 wherein it is in effect found that no mention was made in the will of the automobile involved in this action. That such finding is without support in the evidence and is contrary to the clear preponderance thereof. (J. R. 21)

3. The trial court erred in making that part of finding of fact numbered 10 wherein it found: “That during or before the month of February, 1945 and long prior to the date of said decree the plaintiffs had full knowledge of the individual claim of the defendant to the ownership of said automobile, and of the defendant’s possession thereof pursuant to said claim, and that when said decree was made and entered, the said automobile and the facts with respect to defendant’s claim thereto were and had been known and discovered”. That such finding is without support in the evidence and is contrary to the preponderance thereof. (J. R. 25)

4. The trial court erred in making that part of finding numbered 11 wherein it found that the defendant delivered to Irene B. Cook all of the residue of the property belonging to the estate of said deceased. That such finding is without support in the evidence and is contrary to the clear preponderance thereof. (J. R. 25)

5. The trial court erred in making that part of its finding numbered 14 wherein it found that notwith-

standing their knowledge that the defendant claimed said automobile as his own personal property and by virtue of said claim the plaintiffs herein or either of them have ever made or filed any objection or protest on account of the failure of Mark B. Cook, as executor or otherwise, to list the said automobile or to report to the inheritance tax appraisers. That such finding is without support in the evidence and is contrary to the clear preponderance thereof. (J. R. 26)

6. The trial court erred by in effect finding that the plaintiffs are estopped to claim any right, title or interest in said automobile involved in this action to-wit: that certain Ford sedan automobile, Motor No. 6441914, and that the decree of final distribution is res adjudicata with respect to said automobile. That such finding is without support in the evidence and is contrary to the clear preponderance thereof. (J. R. 27)

7. The trial court erred in making its finding numbered 16 wherein it found that for more than three years immediately prior to the commencement of this action the defendant Mark B. Cook has had and held in good faith the open, notorious and adverse possession of said automobile hereinabove referred to, and described and involved in this action, under a claim of individual right and with the knowledge of the plaintiffs and said possession and claim, and that said cause of action of the plaintiffs herein is barred under and by virtue of Title 104, Chapter 2, Subdivision 2 of Section 24, Utah Code Annotated, 1943. That such

finding is without support in the evidence and is contrary to the clear preponderance thereof. (J. R. 27)

8. The trial court erred in making its first conclusion of law wherein it concluded that plaintiffs are estopped to claim any right, title or interest in said automobile and that the decree of distribution is *res adjudicata* as to the right of the plaintiffs to recover the value of said automobile. That such conclusion of law is without support in either the evidence or the findings of fact and is contrary to law. (J. R. 27)

9. The trial court erred in making its conclusion of law numbered 2 in that such conclusion of law is without support in the findings of fact or conclusions of law and is contrary to law. (J. R. 27)

10. The trial court erred in making its conclusion of law numbered 3 in that such conclusion of law is without support in the evidence or the findings of fact and is contrary to law. (J. R. 28)

11. The trial court erred in making its conclusion of law numbered 4 in that such conclusion of law is without support in the findings of fact or conclusions of law and is contrary to law. (J. R. 28)

12. The trial court erred in awarding judgment dismissing plaintiffs' complaint. (J. R. 29)

13. The trial court erred in awarding costs to the defendant.

14. The trial court erred in admitting in evidence over plaintiffs' objection the verification to the inven-

tory and appraisement filed in the case of Mark Cook. (Tr. 62)

15. The trial court erred in failing to find upon the question of whether or not a gift of the automobile was made by Mark Cook to his son Mark B. Cook. (J. R. 21)

16. The trial court erred in failing to find that Mark Cook did not make a valid gift of the automobile to Mark B. Cook.

17. The trial court erred in failing to find for plaintiffs and in failing to award plaintiffs judgment against the defendant for the sum of \$800.00.

ARGUMENT

In our view there are three main questions presented by this appeal. They are:

First: Does the decree of distribution distribute the automobile to the plaintiffs herein?

Second: May an executor of an estate acquire title to either real or personal property of an estate or deprive the persons entitled to such property of all rights therein by neglecting to place the same in an inventory and appraisement and otherwise failing to account therefor?

Third: May an executor by paying taxes on the property of an estate which he is administering acquire title to such property by adverse possession?

IN LEGAL EFFECT THE DECREE OF DISTRIBUTION IN THIS CASE DISTRIBUTED THE REVERSIONARY INTEREST, IF ANY, OF THE ESTATE OF MARK COOK IN AND TO THE AUTOMOBILE TO THE PLAITIFFS HEREIN.

U.C.A. 1943, 101-3-9 provides:

“In a specific devise or legacy the title passes by the will, but possession can only be obtained from the personal representative; and he may be authorized by the court to sell the property devised and bequeathed in the cases herein provided.”

A similar provision is contained in the law of succession.
U.C.A. 1943, 101-4-2.

The will of Mark Cook and his wife Irene B. Cook devised and bequeathed to Irene B. Cook a life estate in all of the property owned by Mark Cook and to Mark B. Cook the reversionary interest in the real estate, farming machinery and water stock and to Leah C. Jones, Martha C. Whiting and Louise C. Beeton, share and share alike, all of the rest, residue and remainder of their estates of every name and nature. (Tr. 29)

The decree of distribution distributed the property to the persons entitled thereto “as described in the decree, and any and all other property not now known or discovered which may belong to said estate or in which said estate may have any interest be and the same is hereby distributed in accordance with said last will and testament.” (Tr. 30 and 31)

It will thus be seen that the reversionary interest in the automobile was bequeathed to the plaintiff and the decree of distribution is broad enough to include any and all interest that Mark Cook, deceased, had in the automobile.

In construing a decree of distribution recourse as to its meaning may be had to the will and if there is any ambiguity or any matters are omitted the terms of the will are incorporated into the decree of distribution. 34 C.J.S. 453 and cases cited in the foot note. The case of *In re: Effersons' Estate*, 259 Pac. 919; 70 Utah 258 is among the cases there cited. It is clear that the automobile was not distributed to the defendant and if it was not distributed to the plaintiffs, any interest or title of Mark Cook, deceased, remains suspended in mid air. The trial court did not find that the automobile belonged to the defendant, and so far as the record title is shown in the office of the State Tax Commission the automobile is still owned by Mark Cook, deceased. The provisions of *Article 4, U.C.A. 1943, 57-3a-62* requires that one who claims to be the owner of a motor vehicle which he operates upon the public roads of this state must be the registered owner of such automobile so operated.

From what has been said it follows that if the plaintiffs have been divested of the right, if any, that Mark Cook had in the automobile it must be because they did something or failed to do something resulting in their becoming divested of such title or interest.

PLAINTIFFS ARE NOT ESTOPPED FROM BRINGING
THEIR ACTION IN CONVERSION FOR THE VALUE
OF THE AUTOMOBILE.

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