1950

Leah C. Jones, Martha C. Whiting and Louise C. Beeton v. Mark B. Cook : Brief of Respondent on Appeal

Utah Supreme Court

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

The acceptance of a gift, beneficial to the donee and otherwise complete, will be presumed unless the contrary is made to appear. 28 CJ, "Gifts," pp. 672; 38 CJS, p. 808. Not only is there such a presumption, but the evidence affirmatively shows, and the court found, that ever since the change of possession in May, 1943, the defendant held possession under claim of right. The plaintiffs' argument that defendant repudiated the condition of the gift by refusal to take his mother to Logan is without merit in point of law, as has been seen above, and also in point of fact for the request came from one of the plaintiffs for her son to drive the car, and as far as the record shows, this was the only request. His refusal to turn the car over to the son was a clear assertion of his right to the car, and again put the plaintiffs on notice thereof.

The delivery of a gift is a matter of intent, and intent is to be arrived at from all the facts and circumstances of the case. Reed, et al, v. Knudson, et al, 80 Utah 428, 15 P. 2d 347.

There is nothing in the record which indicates in any

way that the gift was not made as testified by the defendant's wife and all other facts and circumstances, including possession, omission from the estate with knowledge of plaintiffs, and exercise of dominion by defendant. Even the evidence relied upon by plaintiffs support the gift, for on the insurance, while the mother paid for the liability insurance "so Mark would not get into trouble," the defendant reimbursed her, and he himself took out full coverage, including collision insurance.

As to argument that without an endorsement by Mark Cook, the father, of the certificate of ownership, there could be no valid gift, the case of *Jackson v. James*, 97 Utah 41, 89 P. 2d 235, seems to dispose of such contention. This case also cites numerous cases reflecting the Utah law of gifts. The plaintiffs, in their brief, seem to hold that this court should now adopt the dissenting opinion in the *Jackson* case. We submit that the majority opinion reflects the proper rule of law, it is fully in accord with reason and other authority, and there is no reason why it should not be followed in this case.

The failure to comply with the law of signing the legal title and having the transfer required, does not make a transfer of an automobile unlawful so as to prevent the equitable title to the automobile passing to the purchaser or donee. *Mandes v. Mendes*, (Calif) 217 Pac. 1078; *Briedwell et al, v. Henderson*, (Ore) 195 Pac. 575; *Weideman v. Campbell, et al*, 215 Pac. 885; *Whitworth v. Jones*, (Calif) 209 Pac. 60; *Pendell v. Thomas*, 272 Pac. 306; *Sidney v. Wilson*, 67 Cal. App. 282; *Moody v. Goodwin*, 53 Cal App. 693, 200 Pac. 733; *Boles v. Stiles*, (Calif) 204 Pac. 848; *Votaw v. Farmers Auto Ins. Co.*, 85 P. 2d 872; *Votaw v. Farmers Auto Ins. Co.*, 97 P. 2d 958, especially 962.

Property need not be included in the inventory which the decedent transferred either by gift or sale during his lifetime, and the title thereto does not vest in the executor or the heir. 33 CJS, pp. 1076, 1087.

II. The probate proceedings are res judicata of plaintiffs' claim to the automobile.

We perhaps should notice at the outset in this division the last (unnumbered) heading of plaintiffs' brief, pp. 28-29, under which it is contended that the trial court erred in admitting in evidence the certification to the inventory and appraisal filed in the estate of Mark Cook. The resourceful but dubious argument is advanced that the exhibit mentioned was testimony of transactions with the deceased in contravention of Utah Code Annotated, 1943, 104-49-2. The plaintiffs, themselves, put in evidence the decree of distribution in the estate matter (Tr 30-34). Bearing on the question of notice of plaintiffs' claims and on what plaintiffs were charged with knowing, and as to the proceedings before the probate court, the inventory and appraisal, together with the certification thereof, was received. The plaintiffs made no objection to the inventory and appraisal, but objected to the verification thereof by the executor. Such objection had no merit, because it, in no way, or indirectly, was as to communications with the deceased. The same comment as was made by the court in *Jackson v. James*, 97 Utah 41, 89 P 2d 237, seems appropriate here: "In this connection, appellant argues that the court erred in permitting plaintiff to testify, contending that she was barred by the provisions of Sec. 104-49-2, RS of Utah, 1933. Plaintiff did not testify as to any transactions had with the deceased, or as to any conversations

with him, and there was consequently no error in permitting her to testify as a witness."

The objections raised bear no relationship to the evidence objected to, and moreover any possible substance to the objection could not raise or involve any prejudice, since it was admitted by plaintiff that the automobile was not included in the inventory and in any event, since in the absence of a finding on the issue of ownership or gift, it could not possibly have been considered by the court as plaintiffs infer. In short, the inventory and appraisal being admissible, there was no reason why it should be admitted piecemeal. See 23 CJ, Sec. 383, pp. 1167, 1168.

Now, passing to the principal question as to the binding effect of the proceedings in the probate court.

In re: Rice's Estate, 111 Utah, 428, 182 P. 2d 111, it is held that a decree of distribution in probate proceedings after due and legal notice by a court having jurisdiction of the subject-matter, is conclusive as to the fund property, items and matters covered by and properly included within the decree until set aside or modified by the court entering the decree in the manner described by law or until reversed on appeal.

Cases are then cited and a reference is made to Sec. 102-11-37, UCA, 1943:

"The settlement of the account, and the allowance thereof by the court, or upon appeal, is conclusive against all persons in any way interested in the estate, saving, however, to all persons laboring under any legal disability their right to move for cause to reopen and examine the account, or to proceed by action against the executor or administrator either individually or upon his bond, at any time before final distribution"

The court then says: "This section and the two quoted cases do not hold that a person defrauded by the acts of an executor or administrator is without means to correct the injustice. Section 102-14-23, UCA, 1943, sets out a remedy to the person so injured.

" 'Mistakes in settlement may be corrected before final settlement and discharge, and after such time by an action in equity, on such showing as will justify the interference of the court.'

"Being limited to his relief in equity, has the petitioner stated facts sufficient to constitute a cause of action against the executrix or trustee? To do this he must allege facts to show fraudulent acts or conduct on the part of the executrix sufficient to establish 'extrinsic fraud.' "

On the second appeal, *Rice v. Rice*, _____ Utah _____, 212 P. 2d 685, which related to the sufficiency of the evidence and not wholly to the pleadings, the court held that the evidence showed extrinsic fraud sufficient to authorize the intervention of a court of equity, while recognizing that judgments must be sustained and "not for anything but the most compelling reasons" set aside. In the *Rice* cases, the claims of the executrix originated under the will at the expense of the other legatee. In the instant case the defendant came into the possession and ownership of the car before the death of the testator. It was never a part of his estate, and the plaintiffs knew of defendant's claims prior to the time the defendant even knew there was a will. The defendant here made his claim in good faith with the knowledge of plaintiffs as the court found. The plaintiffs intentionally raised no issue during the probate proceed-

ings; they attended the hearing at which the property in the estate, not including the automobile, was ordered distributed. They said or did nothing until long after the decree of distribution had become final and, as a matter of fact, until just a short time before the commencement of the present action. In this action, they did not attack in their pleadings, or at the trial, the probate decree by an action in equity but have brought a purely legal action for conversion, and the case was tried on the theory of conversion. There was no fraud, overreaching or imposition. See also *In re: Raleigh's Estate*, 48 Utah 138, 158 Pac. 705.

If, under such circumstances, a probate decree could be impeached, there would be little hope of finality to any decree. Judgments of courts, whether in law or equity, should not be lightly disregarded or set aside, particularly when attacked collaterally.

On page 18 of their brief, plaintiffs cite *Sontag v. Superior Court*, 36 P. 2d 140; *Walls v. Walker*, 37 Cal. 424, 99 Am. Dec. 290, and other cases in support of the proposition that settlement of an executor's account in the absence of an appeal is conclusive only as to such matters as were actually included in the account. Most of these cases involve direct proceedings in the probate court itself, and illustrate the usual remedies of proceeding for correction or supplementing of successive accounts in the same proceeding. Thus, in *Sontag v. Superior Court*, an account was approved expressly without prejudice to the subsequent claim in question. None of these cases are in point as to the case here. They have no application to a situation involving the approval of a final account and report, and a decree of final distribution and the acceptance of that decree by the heirs,

without appeal or petition to modify or correct, and a subsequent collateral attack in a purely law action.

At no place in the pleadings is it alleged by plaintiffs that there was any fraud, either intrinsic or extrinsic. There seems no pleading to invoke any inquiry as to whether the decree of the probate court should be set aside in the exercise of any equity powers, the issues raised by the pleadings being: first, whether plaintiffs were the owners of the automobile; second, was there a conversion? Third, whether the plaintiffs' claims to the property were res judicata by virtue of the probate proceedings; and fourth, whether the claims of the plaintiffs were barred by the Statute of Limitations.

The plaintiffs claim that they were the owners of property when the claimed conversion occurred, and the defendant denied such ownership and proved that he was the owner, both by reason of a gift from his father and by reason of the defenses of res judicata and the Statute of Limitations. No pleadings for the purpose of, or authorizing, the setting aside of the decree of the probate court were filed and no evidence is disclosed which would justify the setting aside of the probate decree even though there were proper pleadings before the court.

III. The plaintiffs' claim to the automobile is barred by the Statute of Limitations.

As a further defense and bar to the action alleged by the plaintiffs against the defendant, the defendant sets up Section 104-2-24 (2), UCA, 1943, which is in these words, so far as pertains to the matter involved here: "Within three years * * * * (2) an action for taking, de-

taining or injuring personal property, including actions for specific recovery thereof."

The Statute of Limitations operates as a bar in equity as well as law. It does not operate as a rule of evidence by producing a presumption of payment only, but as a positive bar. See 37 CJ, Sec. 18, p. 699.

The same text states:

"The general rule with respect to debts or money demands is that the statute of limitations are regarded as barring that remedy, and not as extinguishing the cause of action."

Citing authorities, including re: Reiser's Estate, 57 Utah 434, 195 Pac. 317:

"But with respect to actions for the recovery of real or personal property, the weight of authority is in favor of the proposition that, where one has had the peaceable, undisturbed, open possession of personal, as well as real property, with an assertion of his ownership for the period which, under the law, would bar an action for its recovery by the real owners, the former has acquired a good title—a title superior to that of the latter, whose neglect to avail himself of his legal rights has lost him his rights."

In *Nichols v. Randall*, (Calif) 69 Pac. 26, the court said:

"Statutes of Limitations have become rules of property. They are vital to the welfare of society and are favored by law. They are found and approved in all systems of enlightened jurisprudence. They promote repose by giving stability and security to human affairs. Important public policy lies at their foundation. They stimulate to activity and prevent negligence. While time is constantly destroying the evidence of

rights, they supply its place by presumption which renders proof unnecessary.”

In *Snow v. West*, 35 Utah 206, 99 Pac. 674, 136 Am. St. Rep. 1047, it is indicated that an action for claim and delivery against the sheriff and judgment creditor to recover damages sustained by reason of alleged wrongful seizure and sale of property claimed to be exempt from execution was within Section 102-2-24, and the three-year Statute of Limitations applied.

In the case of *Dee v. Hyland, et al*, 3 Utah 208, 3 Pac. 388, which was brought for the recovery of the possession of a horse, or in case possession could not be had, the value thereof, the defendant pleaded the Statute of Limitations. The court held that inasmuch as the horse had been in the possession of the defendant and his predecessors in interest for more than three years, the Statute applied although plaintiff claimed and proved that he had no knowledge of the whereabouts of the horse until shortly before the action was commenced.

Aside from the above mentioned principles of law, claims under the preceding division applies here.

Both Leah C. Jones and Martha C. Whiting testified to the refusal of the defendant to permit the son of Mrs. Whiting to drive their mother and others to Logan on or about the 24th of July, 1944 and in the following February, the two witnesses were sufficiently concerned about the defendant's claims that the plaintiff, Leah C. Jones, made a personal investigation as to the condition of the title to the car. She further testified that she knew that the taxes were being paid by the defendant. Certainly, all were charged with the knowledge that in the accounts rendered

in the estate of Mark Cook, deceased, there were no claims for taxes upon the automobile.

The court found that the plaintiffs knew of the defendant's assertion of title sometime in February of 1945. We think they knew of such claim long prior to this time. Taking, however, the date found by the court, we have this situation:

The complaint in the instant action was filed on May 22nd, 1948. The three-year Statute of Limitations, beginning to run before February of 1948 or before. Thus, the instant action was brought approximately three months after the expiration of the statutory period. The action is therefore further barred by reason of the Statute of Limitations.

Plaintiffs' argument that defendant was a trustee and therefore the Statute did not run in his favor ignores the facts that the rights and claims of defendant originated prior to the death of his father and that, as the court found and the undisputed evidence disclosed, the plaintiffs had knowledge of his adverse claims long prior to his appointment as executor, and in fact, before he knew there was a will. There never was a trust in this case as far as the automobile was concerned, and the authorities cited by plaintiffs are not in point.

CONCLUSION

The arguments advanced by plaintiffs in support of their claim that the judgment should be reversed are more dexterious than sound. There was a gift, but failure to so find could not be prejudicial to the plaintiffs. The failure of Mark Cook to endorse the title certificate is immaterial, but can be understood in view of the parties having the

same name. This case does not involve a suit in equity for the impeachment of a decree for extrinsic fraud. There is no such proceeding involved, and if there were, the evidence fails to show and fraud or overreaching, exerinsic or intrinsic. The plaintiffs have had their day in court. They had knowledge of the rights of defendant since February, 1945, or before. Their present claim is barred both by the Statute of Limitations and under the doctrine of res adjudicata.

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